IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88,368

ANTONIO MICHAEL CARTER,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD **G.** SCHER Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0899641

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1444 Biscayne Boulevard suite 202 Miami, FL 33132 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Antonio Michael Carter was convicted of two counts of first-degree murder. The sentencing jury recommended death for one count, and life imprisonment for the other, and the lower court sentenced Mr. Carter in accordance with the jury's recommendations. This Court affirmed Mr. Carter's convictions and sentence of death on direct appeal.

Carter v. State, 576 So. 2d 1291 (Fla. 1989), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 225 (1991).

In November, 1992, eleven (11) months in advance of the two (2) year deadline, Mr. Carter filed an initial Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 2). On December 22, 1992, the State filed a motion to dismiss because the motion was not sworn to as required under Rule 3.850 and "therefore is facially deficient" (PC-R. 52). On March 3, 1993, the lower court dismissed Mr. Carter's Rule 3.850 motion (Attachment A)."

Mr. Carter thereafter filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion on October 7, 1993 (PC.R. 67-286). Attached to the motion was a verification signed by counsel, alleging that Mr. Carter was incompetent (PC-R. 286).²

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, this day personally appeared TODD G. SCHER, counsel for ANTONIO M. CARTER, an incompetent client, who, being first duly sworn, says that he is counsel for the Defendant in the above-styled cause, that he has read the foregoing Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend and for Evidentiary Hearing, and has personal knowledge of the facts and matters therein set forth and alleged; and that each and all of these facts and matters are true and correct.

(PC-R. 286).

1

^{&#}x27;This order was not included in the record prepared for this appeal, and is attached to the brief for the Court's review.

^{&#}x27;Counsel's verification consisted of the following:

On November 1, 1993, the State moved to dismiss the amended motion because it was an "improper motion" not "adequately sworn to as required by the Rule. *Scott v. State,* 464 So. 2d 1171 ([F]Ia. 1985); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3987 [sic]" (PC-R. 287). Judge R. Michael Hutcheson deferred ruling on the motion to dismiss and referred the case to Judge S. James Foxman, who had been the trial judge and who was reassuming his criminal docket duties as of January 1, 1994 (PC-R. 295).

On February 11, 1994, collateral counsel, on behalf of Mr. Carter, filed an Emergency Motion for Mental Health Evaluation (PC-R. 304), writing that "due to a diagnosis of chronic schizophrenia, refusal of medication, and bizarre behavior, the Department of Corrections medical staff has recommended that Mr. Carter be seen by independent mental health experts for a competency evaluation (PC-R. 304).³ Judge Foxman thereafter entered an order for an Emergency Mental Health Examination (PC-R. 308-09). The experts were asked to evaluate Mr. Carter "for the purpose of determining Mr. Carter's competency to proceed with pending judicial proceedings as well as the need for appropriate treatment to restore Mr. Carter's competence to proceed" and that "the

[&]quot;marginally adequate" to perform activities of daily living, exhibited "poverty of thought," and that he "picks at lint almost continually" (PC-R. 305). The motion further detailed that on January 28, 1994, Captain Anderson of the Department of Corrections referred Mr. Carter for a psychiatric evaluation "because of refusal of attorney visit" (PC-R. 305). The psychological specialist who evaluated Mr. Carter observed "bizarre behavior," "compulsive lint picking," "very thin," "pacing in cell," "borderline personal hygiene," "refusal of callouts," "poverty of thought," "easily agitated," and "required 'coaching' on part of security staff to keep self and cell clean" (PC-R. 305). The motion further reported that, on February 4, 1994, the jail psychologist reported "poverty of thought," "overall adjustment: unsatisfactory," and "refer to attorney for possible competency evaluation" (PC-R. 305).

evaluations be conducted pursuant to guidelines which are consistent with Florida law" (PC-R. 308).4

Dr. Umesh Mhatre evaluated Mr. Carter on February 27, 1994, and, after conducting his evaluation, reviewing the entire medical file, interviewing various correctional staff, and observing Mr. Carter's cell (PC-R. 314-15). determined that Mr. Carter was incompetent to proceed (PC-R. 31 6).

Dr. Harry Krop evaluated Mr. Carter on February 16, 1994. Dr. Krop wrote that Mr. Carter "had a rudimentary understanding of pending proceedings but could not provide any detail regarding the specific nature of these proceedings" (PC-R. 31 1), and could not explain "to what degree he would be involved" in his postconviction proceedings (PC-R. 312). Based only on his interview of Mr. Carter, Dr. Krop found Mr. Carter to be Competent, noting however that "Mr. Carter tends to decompensate rather easily and, consequently, his competency status may change in the near future" (Id.).

Dr. Krop conducted a follow-up evaluation of Mr. Carter on March 31, 1994, in order to evaluate how Mr. Carter interacted with his collateral counsel. Dr. Krop noted that, in his February evaluation, his "major concern was whether Mr. Carter had the capacity to relate information to his attorneys[,] information which would assist in their

⁴Dr. Mhatre and Dr. Harry Krop were the experts ordered by the Court to conduct the evaluations (PC-R. 308). These experts were appointed because they were involved in Mr. Carter's case during the trial stag8 and were therefore familiar with Mr. Carter's history. During the pm-trial competency proceedings, Dr. Mhatre believed Mr. Carter to be competent, whereas Dr. Krop found Mr. Carter to be incompetent and requiring hospitalization.

⁵Dr. Mhatre observed that Mr. Carter "is incapable of cooperating with his attorney in his defense. Neither is he capable of challenging prosecutor's witnesses. He also is incapable of exhibiting proper courtroom behavior and he is not capable of understanding the adversary nature of the legal system" (PC-R. 316). Dr. Mhatre further found that Mr. Carter "definitely meets the criteria for involuntary hospitalization" (PC-R. 316).

representation of him" (PC-R, 319). Dr. Krop therefore observed Mr. Carter "in a meeting with his attorneys" and "had the opportunity to review Mr. Carter's medical records at UCI" (PC-R. 319). Dr. Krop observed that during his interaction with his attorneys, Mr. Carter was "highly distractible and at times totally nonresponsive. During his long response latency, it was difficult to assess whether Mr. Carter was thinking about his response or responding to internal stimulation" (PC-R. 319). Dr. Krop noted that Mr. Carter "was able to answer simple questions pertaining to his legal case, but became confused easily and also provided erroneous information at times" (PC-R. 319). Dr. Krop also wrote that Mr. Carter "was unable to assist his attorneys in their attempts to obtain information pertaining to family members and other matters related to his family background" (PC-R. 319-20), exhibited "significant poverty of thought" and "limited insight" into his illness, and *'displayed some unusual motor movements which could be related to his anxiety level and/or response to internal cues" (PC-R. 319). Based on his reevaluation, Dr. Krop opined that Mr. Carter was incompetent to proceed "as he is incapable of assisting his attorneys in preparing a defense in his best interest" (PC-R. 320). Because "his medical records reveal a history of auditory hallucinations and [Mr. Carter1 has continued to resist attempts to medicate him, . . . he meets the criteria for involuntary hospitalization as he has clearly decompensated since he stopped taking his medication" (PC-R. 320).

At a status hearing, counsel noted that "I don't think this has ever arisen in a post-conviction case" and was therefore "call[ing] this up to Your Honor's attention so we could sort of all get together and see where we stand and what the next step should be" (PC-R. 327). Judge Foxman questioned whether he had jurisdiction over the matter at all, suggesting that a *Baker Act* proceeding in Union County would be more appropriate

because that was where Mr. Carter was incarcerated (PC-R. 327-28). The State's response was to reassert its complaint about the lack of a sworn verification from Mr. Carter:

We have a pending motion to dismiss. The only person that's ever signed this motion for post-conviction relief, which was once dismissed by Judge Briese because it wasn't sworn to, is defense counsel.

motion for postconviction relief. So what I will ask at the status conference is that if we're going to have a hearing on the motion to dismiss -- although I don't feel it's necessary, it's pretty obvious on its face that there's no sworn motion -- that we set that here.

All I'm asking is that the Court follow the rules. and right now there is no sworn motion [].

(PC-R. 331). Judge Foxman thereupon requested that counsel initiate *Baker Act* proceedings in Union County (PC-R. 334). adding that "if they refuse up there after a bona fide attempt, then maybe I'll have to do it" (PC-R. 338). An order to that effect was thereafter entered (PC-R. 35 1-52).

A Petition for Involuntary Commitment was filed on behalf of Mr. Carter in Union County, Florida (PC-R. 1579-86),⁶ and was granted after the Department of Corrections joined in the request to have Mr. Carter hospitalized (PC-R. 1896). Mr. Carter was

⁵The commitment proceedings are styled *In Re: Antonio Michael Carter; Petition for Involuntary Commitment,* Union County, Florida, Case No. 94-029 CP. The Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent Mr. Carter during these proceedings. Mr. Carter was also represented by the Public Defender's Office when CMHI petitioned a Gadsden County circuit court for an order to involuntarily medicate Mr. Carter (PC-R. 1880 et. seq). These proceedings are styled *In Re: Carter, Antonio (DC #* 068 6011, Gadsden County, Florida, Case No. 94-272-MHA).

thereafter committed to the Corrections Mental Health Institution (CMHI),⁷ where he remained until October, 1994 (PC-R. 1536).⁸

After his discharge from CMHI,⁹ the case proceeded again to Judge Foxman.

Collateral counsel informed Judge Foxman that since Mr. Carter's discharge, Mr. Carter had to be placed in the Crisis Stabilization Unit at Union Correctional Institution (PC-R. 402), but that he had apparently been stabilized with a different type of medication (PC-R. 402-03). The State took the position that Mr. Carter was delaying his case due to "assertions by counsel of Mr. Carter's mental health problems," and that "the Defense has

⁷The CMHI records reveal that, on admission, Mr. Carter was experiencing abnormal psychomotor agitation "in the form of pacing . . . and rocking and fidgeting in the interviewing process" (PC-R. 1538). Mr. Carter also "displayed a tic-like grimaces well as oral air sucking behavior" (*Id.*). During his admission interview, Mr. Carter was "distracted by some sort of stimuli with only fair eye contact," "partially oriented to time and person and seemed only loosely oriented to place and context," and his insight was "nil" (*Id.*). The staff noted that Mr. Carter's memory was "impaired" and he was "obviously a poor historian" (*Id.*). Mr. Carter's thought process "appeared to retain the suicidal ideation associated with command hallucinations," his speech was "impoverished in quantity and content, " "rate and flow of conversation were slowed," and "cognitively he impressed as functioning at a borderline intellectual range with obvious concrete expression" (*Id.*). The records further detail that Mr. Carter had been experiencing psychiatric problems since the age of 12, and that his IQ was 60 (PC-R. 1562).

⁸On discharge, the CMHI diagnosed Mr. Carter with Chronic Undifferentiated Schizophrenia and Severe Head Injury Resulting in Right Parietal Skull Fracture (PC-R. 1536). CMHI also reported that because Mr. Carter was being medicinally compliant, "[t]he constant pacing, the hissing behavior, the reclusiveness, and the ongoing response to auditory hallucinations as well as suicidal ruminations all of which were so obvious on admission are in current remission" (PC-R. 1540).

^{&#}x27;During Mr. Carter's commitment, collateral counsel provided periodic updates to the lower court and the State as to Mr. Carter's status. See PC-R. 367; 372; 379. Further, it was during Mr. Carter's commitment at CMHI when appellate proceedings in this Court were pending regarding the issue of clemency counsel's conflict of interest. Mr. Carter would ask that the Court take judicial notice of the proceedings in that case, styled *Carter v. State, 82,293,* wherein the Court initially stayed the pending appeal during Mr. Carter's commitment. Thereafter, the Court indefinitely stayed the appeal pending a judicial determination of Mr. Carter's competency and final resolution of Mr. Carter's postconviction proceedings.

been asserting this shield of mental incompetence to prevent going forward with the 3.850" (PC-R. 41 I-I 2). The State then agreed that "[i]f in fact Mr. Carter is incompetent, we need to do everything in our power to see that he gets the medications necessary, if possible, to become competent, so that we can then proceed forward with the 3.850" (PC-R. 414). Judge Foxman then questioned counsel about whether the standard for competency to proceed in a 3.850 proceeding was the same as the trial level (PC-R. 416). After noting that the issues of competency in 3.850 proceedings were "not as clear as I think we'd all like it to be," the court requested further briefing on the issue (PC-R. 2025).

After the briefs were submitted," argument was conducted before Judge Foxman (PC-R. 2066-87). Mr. Carter's counsel argued that the *Dusky* standard should apply to the postconviction setting as it does in the trial setting, The State recognized that "it's a difficult question" (PC-R. 2070), but argued that "[t]here is no specific authority in the state of Florida finding that at the postconviction stage of proceedings there is any requirement of a finding of competency to go forward" (PC-R. 2069). After initially observing that the issue is "confusing" and there was "[n]ot a lot of guidance out there for what we should do" (PC-R. 2076), the court first ruled that "there is a right to a [competency] determination" in the context of postconviction proceedings (PC-R. 2081), 11 and announced that the standard, gleaned from a special concurrence authored by Justice Overton in *Jackson v. State*, 452 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1984), was "whether the defendant has a present ability to consult and communicate with postconviction counsel

¹⁰Mr. Carter's brief is at PC-R. 2026-58; the State's brief is at PC-R. 2062-65.

[&]quot;Judge Foxman later reiterated that he was making the initial determination that Mr. Carter has the right to be competent in postconviction (PC-R. 2083). The State below indicated that it did not intend to appeal the Court's finding (PC-R. 2083), and in fact has not done so. This issue is therefore not before the Court.

regarding factual matters at issue in this post conviction proceedings" (PC-R. 2082). After entering a written order announcing the new standard (PC-R. 2090-91), Judge Foxman issued orders for additional evaluation adopting his announced standard, specifically noting that Mr. Carter "need not have any rational or factual understanding of the pending postconviction proceedings" (PC-R. 2088) (emphasis in original). Judge Foxman also ruled if Mr. Carter was determined to be incompetent, the postconviction motion would proceed with an appointed guardian in accordance with *Whitmore v. Arkansas*, 110 S. Ct. 17 17 (1990).

A timely rehearing was filed by Mr. Carter seeking clarification of the standard as well as the guardianship appointment aspect of the court's order (PC-R. 2099). Rehearing was denied (PC-R. 2103), and this appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The lower court's announced standard for competency to proceed in postconviction proceedings fails to comport with minimal due process protections and the Eighth Amendment. The lower court's standard violates *Dusky v. United States* and its progeny, for it fails to provide for any assessment of whether the defendant has the ability to consult with counsel with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and whether the defendant has a factual and rational understanding of the proceedings. Because it fails to contemplate the issues which are inherent in the *Dusky* standard, the lower court's standard is insufficient to protect against erroneous competency determinations. Further, the lower court's reliance on language in Justice Overton's special concurrence in *Jackson v. State* was misplaced. Because Mr. Carter is required to verify under oath that the allegations are contained in his postconviction motion are true and correct, Mr. Carter must possess the requisite mental capacity to rationally understand the proceedings and

understand the contents of the motion. Mr. Carter cannot be sworn and subject himself to perjury if he does not have a rational and factual understanding of what he is doing.

Moreover, without an ability to consult with counsel with a reasonable degree of rational understanding, counsel cannot provide effective representation.

2. The lower court erred in ruling that, if Mr. Carter were found incompetent to proceed, a guardian would be appointed and the proceedings would not be halted despite Mr. Carter's involuntary absence. The lower court's reliance on Whitmore v. Arkansas was misplaced, for Whitmore addressed a situation where a habeas petitioner voluntarily waived his right to seek postconviction relief. Here, there is no waiver, but rather a client who is incompetent to proceed. Moreover, the lower court determined that there were factual issues to be addressed during Mr. Carter's postconviction proceedings. Mr. Carter should not be proceeded against while he is involuntarily absent due to incompetency. Further, once he is restored to competency, Mr. Carter should be allowed a reasonable time to amend his Rule 3.850 motion with issues that could not have been raised at an earlier time due to his incompetency.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT'S ANNOUNCED STANDARD FOR COMPETENCY TO PROCEED IN POSTCONVICTION VIOLATES THE **FIFTH** AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND *DUSKY V. UN/TED STATES* AND ITS PROGENY.

A. INTRODUCTION.

The lower court determined that, although Mr. Carter clearly had the right to be competent during his postconviction proceedings, "Mr. Carter "need not have any rational or factual understanding of the pending postconviction proceedings" (PC-R. 2090). In doing so, the lower court specifically rejected the well-settled standard enunciated by the United States Supreme Court in Dusky v. *United States*, 362 U.S. 402 (1960), see PC-R. 2090 n.1, in favor of a lesser standard of competency:

The standard of competency to proceed in postconviction is whether the Defendant has the present ability to consult and communicate with postconviction counsel regarding factual matters at issue in his postconviction proceedings. The Defendant need not have any rational or factual understanding of the pending postconviction proceedings.

(PC-R. 2090). Because the lower court found that "there are factual matters to be determined in the Defendant's postconviction proceedings" (PC-R. 2090), the court ordered that Mr. Carter be evaluated for competency.¹³

¹²See PC-R. 2081. The issue of whether Mr. Carter has a right to be competent in his postconviction proceedings is not before the Court in this appeal. The State of Florida did not cross-appeal Judge Foxman's order.

¹³The experts were specifically notified that they were not to consider whether Mr. Carter met the *Dusky* standard:

^{3.} In determining whether or not the Defendant is competent to proceed without the assistance of a guardian in his postconviction proceedings, the Doctors shall consider:

In support of the new standard, the lower court relied on Jackson v. State, 452 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1984). In Jackson, this Court addressed the issue of whether a defendant's request under § 916. 11 and § 916.12, Florida Statutes (19831, and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210, for a judicial determination of competency to understand the nature of and assist his counsel in post-conviction proceedings, should have been granted. Jackson, 452 So. 2d at 536. The Court ruled § 916.11 -12 and Rule 3.210 "both address the issue of a judicial determination of competency related to criminal trial proceedings," and did not "apply to a 3.850 motion" and therefore Jackson was "not entitled to a judicial determination of his competency to assist counsel either in preparing a 3.850 Id. at 537. In a special concurring opinion, Justice Overton noted that the motion." competency of a post-conviction litigant is "significant [] when there are factual matters in issue that must be determined." Id. at 537 (Overton, J., specially concurring). If there are factual matters, Justice Overton recognized that a hearing regarding the defendant's "competency to aid counsel in a post-conviction relief proceeding" should be mandated. /d. It is the language of Justice Overton's special concurrence from which the lower court formulated the competency standard at issue (PC-R. 2090).

For the reasons set forth below, Mr. Carter submits that the standard announced by the lower court does not comport with minimal due process and Eighth Amendment principles, principles which apply to Mr. Carter's postconviction proceedings. Mr. Carter

⁽a) Whether the Defendant meets the standard for competency to proceed in post-conviction, that is, whether the Defendant has the present ability to consult and communicate with post-conviction counsel regarding factual matters at issue in his post-conviction proceedings. The Defendant need not post-conviction proceedings.

⁽PC-R. 2088) (emphasis in original).

will also explain that the lower court's reliance on *Jackson* was misplaced. Mr. Carter urges the Court to adopt the *Dusky* standard as the standard to be applied in the postconviction setting. The *Dusky* standard is a common, known standard firmly embodied in our law that has proven to effectively protect the fundamental right of a criminal defendant not to undergo legal proceedings while incompetent. *Cooper v. Oklahoma*, 116 S. Ct. 1373, 1383 (1996) (rejecting a clear and convincing evidence standard for proving competency because of the "dire" consequences of an erroneous determination of competency).

B. STANDARD FOR PRE-TRIAL COMPETENCY.

The United States Supreme Court has long held that "a person whose mental condition is such that he lacks the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense may not be subjected to trial." *Drope v. Mississippi, 420* U.S. 162, 171 (1975). Florida has adopted the oft-cited standard found in the Supreme Court decision of *Dusky v. United States, 362* U.S. 402 (1960) (per curiam), namely, that a defendant may not be tried unless he has "sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding . . , [and] a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him." *Id.* See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.211 (a)(1) (1996).

In addition to incorporating the *Dusky* standard, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.221 offers various considerations to be appraised when evaluating a defendant's competency to be tried. These considerations include a defendant's capacity to appreciate the charges or allegations against him as well as the range and nature of possible penalties, to understand the adversary nature of the legal process, to disclose to counsel

facts pertinent to the proceedings at issue, manifest appropriate courtroom behavior, and testify relevantly. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.21 1 (2)(A)(i-vi).

While some of these considerations are applicable to post-conviction proceedings, some are not, and, as explained further below, the nature of postconviction proceedings necessitates that additional considerations be weighed in evaluating Mr. Carter's competency at this time. However, whatever specific considerations are applicable, Mr. Carter submits that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments require, at a minimum, that Mr. Carter have a sufficient present ability to consult with collateral counsel with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and possess a rational and factual understanding of the proceedings against him. See *Dusky*.

C. STANDARD FOR POSTCONVICTION COMPETENCY.

Because Mr. Carter has the right to be competent during his postconviction proceedings, he must have the "capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense." *Drope*, 420 U.S. at 171, as well as have a "rational, as well as a factual, understanding of the pending proceedings." *Dusky*, 362 U.S. at 402. What exactly these concepts mean in relation to postconviction proceedings is a matter of first impression in this State.

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