FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JAN 6 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By______
Chief Deputy Clerk

ANTONIO MICHAEL CARTER,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 88,368

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR # 998818
444 SEABREEZE BOULEVARD
5TH FLOOR
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Carter's claim that there is a right to "competence" at the collateral attack stage has been decided adversely to him by this Court. The validity of that decision has not been called into question by subsequent developments in the law. Moreover,, the law is clear that there is no right to collateral review in the first place, nor is there any right to counsel at that stage.

there is no right to counsel, it is internally inconsistent and legally impossible for any competency issue to exist at the collateral stage.

The guardianship issue fails because there is no competence issue in the first place. Because that is the case, there is no need for the appointment of a guardian.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO "RIGHT TO COMPETENCY" DURING COLLATERAL ATTACK PROCEEDINGS

On pp.10-20 of his brief, Carter argues that the *Dusky v. United* States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960), standard of competence to proceed applies in the context of a state collateral attack proceeding. ¹ Carter cites no authority supporting that proposition.

For the reasons set out below, this Court should not adopt the "standard" of post-conviction competence urged by Carter.

It is a settled proposition of law that a defendant must be "competent" at 'any material stage of a criminal proceeding." Rule 3.210, Fla. R. Crim. P.; see also, Dusky, sup-a. However, a motion for post-conviction relief under Rule 3.850 of the Rules of Criminal Procedure does not fall within the definition of a

^{&#}x27;Carter's "issue" is based solely on Federal Constitutional grounds.

"material stage" as that term is defined in the Rules, and, in fact, such a proceeding is not a criminal proceeding in the first place. Jackson v. State, 452 So.2d 533, 536-7 (Fla. 1984).

A death-sentenced inmate is not required to seek collateral review of his conviction and sentence, and has no constitutional right to such review. No "right to counsel" attaches after the conclusion of the direct appeal proceedings, and there is no constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel on collateral review. Lambrix v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S365 (Fla., Sept. 12, 1996); see also, Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 111 S.Ct. 2546, 115 L.Ed.2d 640(1991); Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S.Ct. 2765, 106 L.Ed. 1 (1989); Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987). Because there is no State or Federal right to counsel at the collateral attack stage, it is logically inconsistent to argue, as Carter does, that there is a Federal constitutional "right" to competency. Because Carter has no constitutional right to collateral review or to counsel during such review, his competence is simply not at issue.

²To the extent that Carter argues that *Spalding v. Dugger*, 526 So.2d 71 (Fla. 1986), and *Spaziano* v. State, 660 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 1995), are to the contrary, that argument fails. *Lambrix* is the final word from this Court on this issue, and correctly states the law.

carter's claim is based upon a fundamental misconception of the nature of collateral attack proceedings, which are wholly different from trial and direct appeal, The issue contained in Carter's brief is illusory, and this Court should so hold.

To the extent that Carter asserts that this is an issue of "first impression" in this State, that claim is incorrect. In Jackson, this Court specifically held that a collateral petitioner 'Is not entitled to a judicial determination of his competency to assist counsel in either preparing a 3.850 motion or a petition for writ of habeas corpus." Jackson, 452 So.2d at 537. That is the law in this State, and, to the extent that the lower court purported to adopt the special concurrence as controlling, that decision was error. Jackson is consistent with the law as it has developed since that case was decided, and any claim that that case is no longer controlling because it predates the creation of the Office of the Collateral Representative is meritless. Jackson is wholly consistent with the decisions of this Court and the United States

³Carter's claim that the "right to competence" component of the lower court's order is not before this Court on appeal is incorrect. The correctness of that court's order is the issue that this Court has been asked to decide through Carter's interlocutory appeal (which is unauthorized by the Rules of Appellate Procedure). Especially given the posture of this appeal, this Court should address the issues and decline to adopt Carter's restricted concept of what is and is not presented for review.

Supreme Court, which are clear that there is no right to collateral counsel, and that there is no such thing as 'ineffective assistance of collateral counsel ." See, Lambrix, infra.

On pp.13-15 of his brief, Carter argues that "the approach undertaken by the Supreme Court of Wisconsin" in State v. Debra A.

E., 188 Wis. 111, 523 N.W.2d 727 (1994), should be adopted by this Court. Despite Carter's claims to the contrary, that case does not support the proposition that the Dusky competence standard applies at the collateral attack stage. Footnote 2 to that opinion makes clear that the "postconviction relief" motion at issue in that case is in no way similar to a motion to vacate under Rule 3.850. The 'postconviction relief" proceeding at issue in the Wisconsin case is a part of the direct appeal, and has nothing to do with collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence. See, Debra A.E., supra, at 119 n. 2. That decision has nothing to do with the issue before this Court, and reliance upon it is disingenuous.4

To the extent that Carter attempts to equate the issue before

^{*}Wisconsin law refers to collateral attack proceedings as "postconviction review", while referring to the direct appeal matters as "postconviction relief" proceedings. "Postconviction relief" proceedings are in no way analogous to Rule 3.850 proceedings. Debra A.E. has not been interpreted by the Wisconsin court as applying to collateral attack proceedings. Carter's assertion to the contrary is wrong.

this Court with the situation that presents itself when a defendant wishes to waive his post-conviction remedies, that comparison is likewise invalid, The situation before this Court is not "a Durocher-type scenario", and Carter's attempt to argue by analogy fails. The "standard" that applies in the case of a waiver of further review is the Faretta standard which has a constitutional basis. However, the issue in this case is not whether Carter wishes to forego collateral counsel -- the issue is whether the Dusky standard of competence applies to collateral litigation. Competence is not implicated at the post-conviction stage, and, whatever the "standard" for competence to waive counsel may be, it does not create a competence issue at the collateral stage because there is no constitutional right to post-conviction review.

In Rule 3.211 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, various factors relevant to competence to proceed with a "material stage" of the proceedings are set out. Among the factors set out in the rule are the defendant's capacity to appreciate the charges against him and the range and nature of the possible penalties; his capacity to appreciate the adversary nature of the legal process, disclose pertinent facts to counsel, and testify relevantly; and his ability to manifest appropriate courtroom behavior. In the context of a Rule 3.850 proceeding, the applicability of the

various factors is virtually non-existent.

The ability of the defendant to appreciate the charges against those offenses has no him and the possible penalties for application at all in the post-conviction context because there are no "charges" against the defendant, nor is there any possible penalty that may be imposed on the defendant. The defendant's ability to understand the adversary nature of the legal process has little or no bearing on the prosecution of a post-conviction motion. Likewise, the ability of the defendant to disclose relevant facts to counsel, manifest appropriate courtroom behavior and testify relevantly have minimal applicability to a motion for relief under Rule 3.850. At the collateral attack stage, the "relevant facts" within the defendant's knowledge are sharply limited because legal rather than factual issues are the principal focus of collateral proceedings.

On pp.17-18 of his brief, Carter purports to explain how a collateral petitioner's "participation is essential in order to properly investigate the case and determine what issue [sic] may be present." That argument is internally inconsistent with the Rule 3.850 motion filed in this case--that motion consisted of 219 pages containing 21 claims. At no point in that motion does it appear that Carter's attorney complained that he could not plead a claim

due to Carter's claimed incompetence, even though counsel did claim that he could not plead a number of issues due to claims of non-compliance with his public records requests. Moreover, and perhaps most interestingly, a large component of that motion presents what are claimed to be facts about Carter's background and early life. (TR198-243) The claims contained in the motion were apparently not adversely affected in any way by Carter's professed "incompetence", and, in any event, underscore the disingenuous nature of Carter's argument.

Of course, a presumption of finality attaches with the conclusion of direct appeal review, with the result that, at the collateral attack stage, the defendant is challenging a presumptively valid conviction and sentence. Rule 3.850 does not exist to allow the defendant to relitigate his capital trial, nor does the Rule exist to allow the relitigation of issues that were raised on direct appeal (or could have been so raised) in the guise of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. See, e.g., Kight v. Dugger, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990). Carter's attempt to create a competency claim by reliance upon standards that apply to the trial of a criminal case (which is the main event, anyway) is an attempt to put a square peg in a round hole.

The comparison of pre-trial proceedings to collateral attack

proceedings is invalid because of the fundamental difference between them--this Court recognized that basic difference in 1984 when Jackson was decided, and that difference has not changed. Rule 3.850 does not exist for the purpose of allowing defendants to relitigate their capital trials--the rule exists to provide a means for addressing claims of constitutional error in a judgment or sentence. McCrae v. State, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). The position taken by Carter is incorrect because it is legally inconsistent as well as being inconsistent with Carter's own prior filings--this Court should not adopt the argument advanced in Carter's interlocutory appeal.

II. THE GUARDIANSHIP ISSUE FAILS BECAUSE THE COMPETENCY ISSUE IS MERITLESS

On pp.20-22 of his brief, Carter argues that it was error for the trial court to determine that, if Carter is incompetent, then it would "appoint a guardian to act on behalf of the defendant during his incompetency in a manner to the extent recognized by the United States Supreme Court in Whitmore v. Arkansas, 495 U.S. ____, 110 S.Ct. 1717, 109 L.Ed.2d 135 (1990)." This is a non-issue

⁵Carter's claim that his mental state makes it impossible for him to comply with the verification requirement of Rule 3.850 is a non sequitur because it attempts to equate a "rational understanding" of the proceedings with the ability to verify the claims contained in the motion. That comparison is not a valid one.

because, as set out above, there is no competency issue at the collateral attack stage. Because there is no competency issue, there is no "guardianship" issue, nor is there a next friend issue. Because this issue is predicated upon the erroneous premise discussed in claim one, above, this claim fails for the same reasons. As discussed in claim one, Jackson correctly states the law, and Carter has offered no valid argument to the contrary. There is no need for a guardian in this case.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State submits that this Court should hold that the Jackson decision correctly states the law as to a claim of "incompetence" at the post-conviction stage of litigation.